

Funding Agreement

between the

COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA

as represented by the

Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations

and

National Retail Association Limited

regarding funding for the delivery of education and information services for the Fair Work Education and Information Program

This work is copyright. Apart from any use permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*, no part may be reproduced by any process without the written permission of the Commonwealth of Australia acting through the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations.

Contents

1	Term of Agreement	
2	Project	
3	Funding	
4	Management of Funding	
5	Repayment of Funding	
6	Acknowledgment and Publicity	3
7	Subcontracting	
8	Specified Personnel	
9	Assets	
10	Insurance	
11	Liaison and Monitoring	
12	Reporting	6
13	Commonwealth Material	
14	Project Material	
15	Disclosure of Information	
16	Protection of Personal Information	
17	Records	
18	Access to Premises and Records	
19	Indemnity	
20	Conflict of Interest	
21	Negation of Employment, Partnership and Agency	13
	Entire Agreement, Variation and Severance	
23	Waiver	
24	Assignment and Novation	
25	Incorporation	14
	Dispute Resolution	14
27	Termination With Costs and Reduction	
28	Termination For Default	15
	Compliance With Laws and Our Policies	
30	Applicable Law and Jurisdiction	
	Notices	
	Survival of Clauses	
	Interpretation	
	hedule 1 Your Obligations	
	A. Term of agreement (clause 1)	
	B. Program (clause 2)	
	C. Project (clause 2)	
	D. Project Period (clause 2) E. Invoice Requirements (clause 3)	
	F. Bank Accounts (clause 4)	22 22
	(a) The Australian Government crest is to be featured on all publications and promotional material	22 s
	both electronic and hard copy; andboth electronic and hard copy; and	
	H. Subcontractors (clause 7)	
	I. Specified Personnel (clause 8)	
	J. Assets (clause 9)	
	K. Insurance (clause 10)	
	L. Reporting (clause 12)	
	M. Commonwealth Material (clause 13)	
	N. Project Material (clause 14)	
	O. Our Confidential Information (clause 15)	
	P. Protection of Personal Information (clause 16)	24
	Q. Compliance with Laws and Policies (clause 29)	. 25
	R. Notices (clauses 8 and 31)	
	ment A to Schedule 1	
	nition A to Schedule 1	
001	AA. Funding (clause 3)	
	BB. Program Delegate (clauses 11 and 31)	31
	CC. Your Confidential Information (clause 15)	

Parties

COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA ('Commonwealth, 'Us', 'We' or 'Our'), represented by and acting through the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations ('Department')

AND

National Retail Association ('You', or 'Your')

Note: this agreement uses a number of words which are defined in the glossary in clause 33.1. Defined terms start with a capital letter, eg, Asset.

Purpose

- A. The Department operates a Program, the Fair Work Education and Information Program (the Program), under which funding is available to organisations to advise employees, employers and small businesses of key changes to the workplace relations laws following the commencement of the *Fair Work A at 2009*.
- B. You are committed to helping achieve the Program, through Your conduct of the Project by delivering education and information services to employees, employers and small businesses (the Project).
- C. As a result of this commitment, We agree to support the Project by providing Funding to You, subject to the terms and conditions of this agreement.
- D. We are required by law to ensure accountability for public money, and You are required to be accountable for all Funds provided by Us.
- E. You agree to accept the Funding on the terms and conditions set out in this agreement.

1 Term of Agreement

1.1 This agreement commences on the Date of this Agreement and, unless terminated earlier, it expires on the Completion Date.

2 Project

- 2.1 You must carry out the Project:
 - (a) at the times and in the manner specified in Item C of Schedule 1;
 - (b) within the Project Period; and
 - (c) in accordance with this agreement (and any applicable Guidelines), diligently, effectively and to a high professional standard.
- 2.2 The Funding must be expended by You only for the Project.

- 2.3 You must not act in a way that may bring the Project into disrepute.
- 2.4 We are not responsible for the provision of additional money to meet any expenditure in excess of the Funds.

3 Funding

- 3.1 Subject to sufficient funds being available for the Program, and compliance by You with this agreement (including the invoicing requirements, if any, specified in item E of Schedule 1), We will provide You with the Funding at the times and in the manner specified in Item AA of Schedule 2.
- 3.2 Without limiting Our rights, We may withhold or suspend any payment in whole or in part if:
 - (a) You have not performed Your obligations under this agreement; or
 - (b) You have outstanding or unacquitted money under any arrangement (whether contractual or statutory) with Us.
- 3.3 If We exercise Our rights under clause 3.2, You must continue to perform any obligations under this agreement, unless We agree otherwise in writing.

4 Management of Funding

4.1 You must:

- (a) ensure that the Funds are held in an account in Your name, and which You solely control, with a bank or credit union carrying on banking business in Australia;
- (b) if specified in item F of Schedule 1, this must be an account which is:
 - a. established solely to account for and administer, Funding provided by Us to You under this agreement; and
 - b. separate from Your other operational accounts;
- (c) on request from Us, provide Us and the authorised deposit-taking institution with an authority for Us to obtain all details relating to any use of the account; and
- (d) identify the receipt and expenditure of the Funds separately within Your accounting Records so that at all times the Funds are identifiable and ascertainable.
- 4.2 You must keep financial Records relating to the Project to enable:
 - (a) all income and expenditure related to the Project to be identified in Your accounts:
 - (b) the preparation of financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards; and
 - (c) the audit of those Records in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

- 4.3 You must not use the Funds:
 - (a) as security to obtain, or comply with, any form of loan, credit, payment or other interest; or
 - (b) for the preparation of, or in the course of, any litigation.

5 Repayment of Funding

- 5.1 If:
 - (a) at any time, an overpayment occurs, including where an invoice is found to have been incorrectly rendered after payment; or
 - (b) at the Completion Date (or if this agreement is terminated earlier, the date of termination) some or all of the Funding has not been:
 - (i) spent in accordance with this agreement; or
 - (ii) acquitted to Our satisfaction,

then this amount must be repaid to Us within 20 business days of a written notice from Us, or dealt with as directed in writing by Us.

- 5.2 An overpayment may be recovered from You, including by offsetting that overpayment against any amount subsequently due to You under this agreement or any other arrangement between You and Us or between You and the Commonwealth generally.
- 5.3 If an overpayment is not repaid to Us, Interest is payable on the amount after the expiry of the 20 business days notice referred to in clause 5.1, until the amount is paid in full.
- 5.4 Any amount owed to Us under clause 5.1 and any Interest owed under clause 5.3, is recoverable by Us as a debt due to Us by You without further proof of the debt by Us.
- 5.5 An adjustment note must be provided to Us if required by the GST Act, including where You repay some or all of the Funding to Us.

6 Acknowledgment and Publicity

- 6.1 You must, in all publications, promotional and advertising materials, public announcements and activities by You or on Your behalf in relation to the Project, or any products, processes or inventions developed as a result of the Project, acknowledge the financial and other support You have received from Us, in the manner set out in item G of Schedule 1.
- 6.2 You must ensure that all advertisements, promotional activities and any other public relations matters in relation to this agreement are consistent with the requirements set out in item G of Schedule 1 and the Guidelines (if any).

6.3 We reserve the right to publicise and report on the awarding of Funding to You, including the amount of the Funds given to You and the title and a brief description of the Project.

7 Subcontracting

- 7.1 You must not, without Our prior written approval, subcontract the performance of any obligations under this agreement. In giving approval, We may impose terms and conditions as We think fit.
- 7.2 The subcontractors We have approved at the Date of this Agreement, and any terms and conditions relating to their use, are identified in item H of Schedule 1.
- 7.3 You are fully responsible for the performance of Your obligations under this agreement, even if You may subcontract some or all of Your obligations.
- 7.4 Despite any approval given by Us under clause 7.1, You are responsible for ensuring the suitability of a subcontractor for the work proposed to be carried out and for ensuring that the work meets the requirements of this agreement.
- 7.5 We may revoke Our approval of a subcontractor on any reasonable ground by giving written notice to You. On receipt of the notice You must, at Your own cost, promptly cease using that subcontractor and arrange their replacement with personnel or another subcontractor acceptable to Us.
- 7.6 If We withdraw Our approval of a subcontractor, You remain liable under this agreement for the past acts or omissions of Your subcontractors as if they were current subcontractors.
- 7.7 You must not enter into a subcontract under this agreement with a subcontractor named by the Director of the Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Agency as an employer currently not complying with the *Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Act 1999*.

8 Specified Personnel

- 8.1 You must ensure that the Specified Personnel, if any, listed in item I of Schedule 1 undertake activities on the Project in accordance with the terms of this agreement.
- 8.2 Where Specified Personnel are unable to undertake activities on the Project, You must notify Us immediately. You must, if requested by Us, provide replacement personnel acceptable to Us without additional payment and at the earliest reasonable opportunity.

- 8.3 We may give notice on reasonable grounds related to performance of the Project requiring You to remove personnel (including Specified Personnel) from work on the Project. You must, at Your own cost, promptly arrange for the removal of the personnel from work on the Project and their replacement with personnel acceptable to Us.
- 8.4 If You are unable to provide acceptable replacement personnel, We may terminate this agreement under clause 28.

9 Assets

- 9.1 You must not use the Funding to purchase or create any Asset, apart from those detailed in item J of Schedule 1, without getting Our prior written approval. Our approval may be subject to conditions. Clauses 9.3 to 9.7 apply only to Assets purchased or created with the Funding.
- 9.2 Unless it is specified in item J of Schedule 1 that We own the Asset then, subject to this clause 9, You own any Asset acquired with the Funding. If We own the Asset, clauses 9.4, 9.5 and 9.6 do not apply.
- 9.3 During the Project Period You must:
 - (a) use any Asset in accordance with this agreement and for the purposes of the Project;
 - (b) not encumber or dispose of any Asset, or deal with or use any Asset other than in accordance with this clause 9, without Our prior written approval;
 - (c) safeguard all Assets against theft, loss, damage, or unauthorised use;
 - (d) maintain all Assets in good working order;
 - (e) maintain all appropriate insurances for all Assets to their full replacement value, noting Our interest in the Asset under this agreement, and provide satisfactory evidence of this on request from Us;
 - (f) if required by law, maintain registration and licensing of all Assets;
 - (g) be fully responsible for, and bear all risks relating to, the use or disposal of all Assets;
 - (h) if specified in item J of Schedule 1, maintain an Assets register in the form and containing the details as described in item J of Schedule 1; and
 - (i) as and when requested by Us, provide copies of the Assets register to Us.
- 9.4 We may require You to pay to Us a proportion of the market value of an Asset which is equivalent to Our contribution to the purchase of the Asset:
 - (a) if You sell or otherwise dispose of the Asset during the Project Period (which must be with Our prior written consent and subject to any conditions We may impose); or
 - (b) on completion of the Project Period or earlier termination of this agreement.

- 9.5 If You fail to make payment as required by clause 9.4, within 20 business days of receiving written notice from Us:
 - (a) You must pay Us the Interest on the amount from the date it was due, for the period it remains unpaid; and
 - (b) the amount and Interest are recoverable by Us as a debt due to Us by You.
- 9.6 If any of the Assets are lost, damaged or destroyed, You must reinstate the Assets including from the proceeds of the insurance and this clause 9 continues to apply to the reinstated Assets. Any surplus from the proceeds of the insurance must be notified to Us and used and accounted for as Funding under this agreement.
- 9.7 On completion of the Project or earlier termination of this agreement We may require You to deal with Assets as We may, at Our sole discretion, direct in writing.

10 Insurance

- 10.1 You must, for as long as any obligations remain in connection with the Project, have insurance as specified in item K of Schedule 1.
- 10.2 When requested, You must provide Us, within 10 business days of the request, with evidence satisfactory to Us that You have complied with Your obligation to insure.

11 Liaison and Monitoring

11.1 You must:

- (a) liaise with and provide information to the Program Delegate, or a person nominated by the Program Delegate, as reasonably required by the Program Delegate; and
- (b) comply with all reasonable requests, directions, or monitoring requirements received from the Program Delegate.

12 Reporting

- 12.1 You must provide to Us progress Reports at the times and in the manner stated in item L of Schedule 1 of Your progress in undertaking the Project.
- 12.2 Unless clause 12.6 applies, You must provide Us with:
 - (a) a certificate that all Funding received was expended for the Project and in accordance with this agreement;
 - (b) an audited detailed statement of income and expenditure in respect of the Funding, which must include a definitive statement as to whether the financial accounts are true and fair, and a statement of the balance of Your account referred to in clause 4.1; and

- (c) an audit statement that the Funding was expended for the Project and in accordance with this agreement.
- 12.3 The certificate referred to in clause 12.2(a) and the audits referred to in clause 12.2(b) and (c) must:
 - (a) contain the details, if any, described in item L of Schedule 1;
 - (b) be provided to the Program Delegate within one month (or other period specified in item L of Schedule 1) of the end of the Project Period; and
 - (c) at the other times specified in item L of Schedule 1, if any.
- 12.4 The certificate referred to in clause 12.2(a) must be provided by the person specified in item L of Schedule 1 or, if no person is specified, by Your chief executive officer, chief internal auditor or board member.
- 12.5 Subject to clause 12.6, the audits referred to in clause 12.2(b) and (c) must:
 - (a) comply with the Australian Auditing Standards; and
 - (b) be carried out by a person who is:
 - registered as a company auditor under the *Corporations Act 2001*, or a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (who is entitled to use the letters CA or FCA), or of CPA Australia (who is entitled to use the letters CPA or FCPA) or the National Institute of Accountants (who is entitled to use the letters MNIA, FNIA, PNA or FPNA); and
 - (ii) not a principal, member, shareholder, officer or employee of You (Your holding company or a subsidiary of You or Your holding company).
- 12.6 If You are audited by the Auditor-General or a State or Territory Auditor-General:
 - (a) for the entire term of this agreement; and
 - (b) the Funding is included in the income and expenditure which is subject to the audit,

then, instead of the certificate and audits referred to in clause 12.2, You may provide Us with:

- (i) a detailed statement of income and expenditure for the Funding, which must include a definitive statement as to whether the financial accounts are true and fair, and a statement of the balance of Your account referred to in clause 4.1; and
- (ii) statement that the Funding was expended for the Project and in accordance with this agreement.
- 12.7 The statements referred to in clause 12.6(i) and (ii) must
 - (a) be certified by:
 - (i) Your chief executive officer; and
 - (ii) the senior executive officer employed by You who has primary responsibility for managing Your audit functions; and

(b) be delivered at the times and in the manner specified in clause 12.3.

13 Commonwealth Material

- 13.1 Ownership of all Commonwealth Material, including Intellectual Property Rights in that Material, remains vested at all times in Us but We grant You a licence to use, copy and reproduce that Material only for the purposes of this agreement and in accordance with any conditions or restrictions specified in Item M of Schedule 1.
- 13.2 You must keep safely and maintain Commonwealth Material You have been given for the purposes of this agreement.
- 13.3 You may retain or destroy all Commonwealth Material remaining in Your possession at the end of this agreement, unless otherwise specified in item M or item P of Schedule 1.

14 Project Material

Ownership

- 14.1 Subject to this clause 14, You Own the Project Material and the Intellectual Property Rights in Project Material immediately on their creation.
- 14.2 The Excluded Material and the Excluded IPR may be owned by You or a third party.

Licences

- 14.3 You must grant to Us (or arrange for the grant to Us of) a permanent, irrevocable, free, world wide, non-exclusive licence (including a right of sublicence) to use, reproduce, adapt and exploit the Intellectual Property Rights in the Project Material and the Excluded Material for any purpose.
- 14.4 If You are unable to obtain a licence on the terms referred to in clause 14.3, you must arrange for the grant to Us of a licence to exercise the Excluded IPR on the terms set out in item N of Schedule 1.

Use of Project Material

14.5 If you are an Author (either the sole or a joint Author) of any Project Material or Excluded Material, You consent to the performance of the Specified Acts by Us or any person licensed by Us to use, reproduce, adapt and exploit that Project Material or Excluded Material.

14.6 You agree:

- (a) to obtain from each Author (other than You) of any Project Material or Excluded Material a written consent to the performance of the Specified Acts (whether occurring before or after the consent is given) by Us or any person licensed by Us to use, reproduce, adapt and exploit that Project Material or Excluded Material; and
- (b) upon request, to provide the executed original of each consent to Us.

General

- 14.7 You must comply with any request that We make of You at any time to bring into existence, sign, execute or otherwise deal with any document that may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this clause 14.
- 14.8 You warrant that You are entitled, or will be entitled at the relevant time, to deal with the Intellectual Property Rights in the Project Material in accordance with this clause 14.
- 14.9 If requested by Us, You must provide Us with a copy of the Project Material in the form requested by Us.

15 Disclosure of Information

- 15.1 Subject to clause 15.5:
 - (a) You must not, without Our prior written approval, disclose any of Our Confidential Information to a third party; and

- (b) We must not, without Your prior written approval, disclose any of Your Confidential Information to a third party.
- 15.2 In giving written approval to disclosure, a party may impose conditions as it thinks fit, and the other party agrees to comply with the conditions.
- 15.3 We may at any time require You to arrange for any person engaged in, or in relation to, the performance or management of this agreement to give written undertakings, in a form required by Us, relating to the non-disclosure of Our Confidential Information.
- 15.4 If You receive a request under clause 15.3, You must promptly arrange for all undertakings to be given.
- 15.5 The obligations on the parties under this clause 15 will not be breached if information:
 - (a) is disclosed by Us to the responsible Minister;
 - (b) is disclosed by Us, in response to a request by a House or a Committee of the Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia;
 - (c) is authorised or required by law to be disclosed; or
 - (d) is in the public domain otherwise than due to a breach of this clause 15.
- 15.6 Nothing in this clause 15 limits Your obligations under clause 16 or clause 18.

16 Protection of Personal Information

- 16.1 You agree:
 - (a) to comply with the Information Privacy Principles when doing any act or engaging in any practice in relation to Personal Information for the purposes of this agreement, as if You were an agency as defined in the Privacy Act; and
 - (b) to deal with Personal Information received, created or held by You for the purposes of this agreement only to fulfil Your obligations under this agreement and in accordance with any conditions or restrictions specified in item P of Schedule 1.
- 16.2 An act done or a practice engaged in by You or a subcontractor to meet (directly or indirectly) an obligation under this agreement:
 - (a) is authorised by this clause 16 for the purposes of sub-sections 6A(2) and 6B(2) of the Privacy Act even if the act or practice is inconsistent with a National Privacy Principle or an approved privacy code (as defined in the Privacy Act) that applies to You or the subcontractor; but
 - (b) is subject to the other obligations in this agreement including this clause 16.
- 16.3 In this clause 16, "received" includes "collected".

17 Records

- 17.1 You must make full and accurate Records of the conduct of the Project including progress against the Milestones (if any), the receipt and use of Funding (in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards), the acquisition of Assets and the creation of Intellectual Property Rights in Project Material.
- 17.2 Subject to Your obligations under clause 16, Records must be retained by You for 7 years after the end of the Project Period.

18 Access to Premises and Records

- 18.1 You must at all reasonable times give the Auditor-General, the Privacy Commissioner, the Program Delegate, a member of the Investigations Branch in the Department on production of photo identification, or any person authorised in writing by the Secretary:
 - (a) reasonable access to:
 - (i) Your employees and equipment;
 - (ii) premises occupied by You;
 - (iii) Material; and
 - (b) reasonable assistance to:
 - (i) inspect the performance of the Project;
 - (ii) to locate and inspect Material;
 - (iii) make copies of Material and remove those copies,

relevant to the Project.

- 18.2 The rights referred to in clause 18.1 are subject to:
 - (a) the provision of reasonable prior notice to You; and
 - (b) Your reasonable security procedures.
- 18.3 If a matter is being investigated which, in the opinion of a member of the Investigations Branch in the Department, or any person authorised in writing by the Secretary, may involve an actual or apprehended breach of the law, clause 18.2(a) will not apply.
- 18.4 The requirement for access specified in clause 18.1 does not in any way reduce Your responsibility to perform Your obligations under this agreement.

19 Indemnity

- 19.1 You agree to indemnify Us against any:
 - (a) loss or liability incurred by Us;
 - (b) loss of or damage to Our property; or

(c) loss or expense incurred by Us in dealing with any claim against Us, including legal costs and expenses on a solicitor/own client basis and the cost of time spent, resources used, or disbursements paid by Us;

arising from:

- (i) any act or omission by You, or any of Your employees, agents, or subcontractors in connection with this agreement, where there was fault on the part of the person whose conduct gave rise to that liability, loss, damage, or expense;
- (ii) any breach by You or any of Your employees, agents, or subcontractors of obligations or warranties under this agreement;
- (iii) any use or disclosure by You, Your officers, employees, agents or subcontractors of Personal Information held or controlled in connection with this agreement; or
- (iv) the use by Us of the Project Material, including any claims by third parties about the ownership or right to use Intellectual Property Rights (including moral rights) in Project Material.
- 19.2 Your liability to indemnify Us under this clause 19 will be reduced proportionately to the extent that any fault on Our part contributed to the relevant loss, damage, expense, or liability.
- 19.3 Our right to be indemnified under this clause 19 is in addition to, and not exclusive of, any other right, power, or remedy provided by law, but We are not entitled to be compensated in excess of the amount of the relevant loss, damage, expense or liability.
- 19.4 In this clause 19, "fault" means any negligent or unlawful act or omission or wilful misconduct.

20 Conflict of Interest

- 20.1 You warrant that, to the best of Your knowledge after making reasonable inquiries, at the Date of this Agreement no Conflict exists or is likely to arise in the performance of Your obligations under this agreement.
- 20.2 If during the term of this agreement, a Conflict arises, or is likely to arise, You must:
 - (a) immediately notify Us in writing of that Conflict and of the steps You propose to take to resolve or otherwise deal with the Conflict;
 - (b) make full disclosure to Us of all relevant information relating to the Conflict; and
 - (c) take steps as We may, if We choose to, reasonably require to resolve or otherwise deal with that Conflict.
- 20.3 If You fail to notify Us under this clause 20, or are unable or unwilling to resolve or deal with the Conflict as required, We may terminate this agreement under clause 28.

21 Negation of Employment, Partnership and Agency

- 21.1 You will not, by virtue of this agreement, be or for any purpose be deemed to be Our employees, partners or agents.
- 21.2 You must not represent Yourself, and must ensure that Your employees, partners, agents or sub-contractors do not represent themselves, as being Our employees, partners or agents.

22 Entire Agreement, Variation and Severance

- 22.1 This agreement records the entire agreement between the parties in relation to its subject matter.
- 22.2 Except for action We are expressly authorised to take elsewhere in this agreement, no variation of this agreement is binding unless it is agreed in writing and signed by the parties.
- 22.3 If a court or tribunal says any provision of this agreement has no effect or interprets a provision to reduce an obligation or right, this does not invalidate, or restrict the operation of, any other provision.

23 Waiver

- 23.1 If either party does not exercise (or delays in exercising) any rights under this agreement, that failure or delay does not operate as a waiver of those rights.
- 23.2 A waiver by either party of any rights does not prevent the further exercise of any right.
- 23.3 Waiver of any provision of, or right under, this agreement:
 - (a) must be in writing signed by the party entitled to the benefit of that provision or right; and
 - (b) is effective only to the extent set out in the written waiver.
- 23.4 In this clause 23, 'rights' means rights or remedies provided by this agreement or at law.

24 Assignment and Novation

24.1 You must not assign Your rights under this agreement without prior written approval from Us.

24.2 You agree not to negotiate with any other person to enter into an arrangement that will require novation of this agreement without first consulting Us.

25 Incorporation

- 25.1 If You are a body corporate, You warrant that Your constitution is not inconsistent with this agreement.
- 25.2 You must notify Us if You intend to amend Your constitution in a way which affects Your ability to comply with this agreement.
- 25.3 If You alter Your constitution in a way which affects Your ability to comply with this agreement, We may terminate this agreement under clause 28.

26 Dispute Resolution

- 26.1 Subject to clause 26.3, the parties agree not to commence any legal proceedings in respect of any dispute arising under this agreement, which cannot be resolved by informal discussion, until the procedure provided by this clause 26 has been used.
- 26.2 The parties agree that any dispute arising during the course of this agreement is dealt with as follows:
 - (a) the party claiming that there is a dispute will send the other party a written notice setting out the nature of the dispute;
 - (b) the parties will try to resolve the dispute through direct negotiation by persons who they have given authority to resolve the dispute;
 - (c) the parties have 10 business days from the receipt of the notice to reach a resolution or to agree that the dispute is to be submitted to mediation or some alternative dispute resolution procedure; and

if:

- (i) there is no resolution of the dispute;
- (ii) there is no agreement on submission of the dispute to mediation or some alternative dispute resolution procedure; or
- (iii) there is a submission to mediation or some other form of alternative dispute resolution procedure, but there is no resolution within 15 business days of the submission, or extended time as the parties may agree in writing before the expiration of the 15 business days,

then, either party may commence legal proceedings.

- 26.3 This clause 26 does not apply if:
 - (a) either party commences legal proceedings for urgent interlocutory relief;
 - (b) action is taken by Us under clauses 5, 18, 27 or 28; or
 - (c) an authority of the Commonwealth, a State or Territory is investigating a breach

or suspected breach of the law by You.

26.4 Despite the existence of a dispute, both parties must (unless requested in writing by the other party not to do so) continue to perform obligations under this agreement.

27 Termination With Costs and Reduction

- 27.1 We may, at any time by written notice to You, terminate this agreement in whole or reduce the scope of this agreement without prejudice to the rights, liabilities, or obligations of either party accruing prior to the date of termination. If this agreement is terminated or reduced in scope We will only be liable for:
 - (a) payments under the payment provisions of this agreement that were due before the effective date of termination; and
 - (b) subject to clauses 27.3 and 27.4, any reasonable costs incurred by You and directly attributable to the termination or partial termination of this agreement.
- 27.2 Upon receipt of a notice of termination or reduction in scope You must:
 - (a) stop work as specified in the notice;
 - (b) take all available steps to minimise loss resulting from that termination and to protect Commonwealth Material and Project Material; and
 - (c) continue work on any part of the Project not affected by the notice.
- 27.3 If there is a reduction in scope of the obligations under this agreement, Our liability to pay any part of the Funding will, in the absence of agreement to the contrary, abate proportionately to the reduction in the obligations under this agreement.
- 27.4 We will not be liable to pay compensation for loss of prospective profits for a termination or reduction in scope under this clause 27 or loss of any benefits that would have been conferred on You had the termination or reduction not occurred.

28 Termination For Default

- 28.1 We may immediately terminate this agreement by giving written notice to You of the termination if:
 - (a) We are satisfied that any statement made in Your application for Funding is incorrect, incomplete, false or misleading in a way which may have affected:
 - (i) the original decision to approve the Funding;
 - (ii) the terms and conditions of this agreement; or
 - (iii) action taken by Us under this agreement;
 - (b) You fail to fulfil, or are in breach of any of Your obligations under this agreement (including but not limited to Your obligations under clauses 8, 20 and 25), and You do not rectify the omission or breach within 10 business days of receiving a notice in writing from Us to do so;

- (c) You are unable to pay all Your debts when they become due;
- (d) if You are an incorporated body:
 - (i) You fail to comply with a statutory demand within the meaning of section 459F of the *Corporations A ct 2001*;
 - (ii) proceedings are initiated to obtain an order for Your winding up or any shareholder, member or director convenes a meeting to consider a resolution for Your winding up;
 - (iii) You come under one of the forms of external administration referred to in Chapter 5 of the *Corporations Act 2001* or equivalent provisions in other legislation, or an order has been made to place You under external administration; or
 - (iv) notice is served on You or proceedings are taken to cancel Your incorporation or registration or to dissolve You as a legal entity;
- (e) if You are an individual, You become bankrupt or enter into a scheme of arrangement with creditors; or
- (f) You cease to carry on a business relevant to the performance of the Project.

29 Compliance With Laws and Our Policies

- 29.1 You must, in carrying out Your obligations under this agreement, comply with:
 - (a) all relevant statutes, regulations, by-laws and requirements of any Commonwealth, State, Territory or local authority; and
 - (b) any of Our policies notified by Us to You in writing, including those listed in item Q of Schedule 1.

30 Applicable Law and Jurisdiction

- 30.1 The laws of the Australian Capital Territory apply to the interpretation of this agreement.
- 30.2 The parties agree to submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Australian Capital Territory in respect to any dispute under this agreement.

31 Notices

- 31.1 A party giving notice under this agreement must do so in writing or by Electronic Communication:
 - (a) if given by You, marked for the attention of the Program Delegate specified in item BB of Schedule 2; or
 - (b) if given by Us, marked for the attention of the person specified in item R of Schedule 1; and

hand delivered or sent by pre-paid post or Electronic Communication to the address of the other party specified in the schedule.

- 31.2 A notice given under clause 31.1 is taken to be received:
 - (a) if hand delivered, on delivery;
 - (b) if sent by pre-paid post, 5 business days after the date of posting; or
 - (c) if sent by Electronic Communication, at the time that would be the time of receipt under the *Electronic Transactions A ct 1999* if a notice was being given under a law of the Commonwealth.

32 Survival of Clauses

- 32.1 These clauses survive the expiration or earlier termination of this agreement: 4, 5, 9, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17 and 19.
- 32.2 Clauses 6 and 18 apply during this agreement and for 7 years from the end of this agreement.

33 Interpretation

- 33.1 In this agreement, unless the contrary intention appears:
 - 'ABN' has the same meaning as it has in section 41 of the A New Tax System (Australian Business Number) Act 1999;
 - 'Asset' means any item of tangible property which has a value of over \$5,000 inclusive of GST, but does not include Project Material;
 - 'Auditor-General' means the office established under the Auditor-General Act 1997 and includes any other entity that may, from time to time, perform the functions of that office;
 - 'Australian Accounting Standards' refers to the standards of that name maintained by the Australian Accounting Standards Board created by section 226 of the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001;
 - 'Australian Auditing Standards' refers to the standards prepared by the Auditing Standards Board of the Australian Accounting Research Foundation and generally accepted audit practices to the extent they are not inconsistent with those standards;
 - 'Author' means a person who is an author of any Project Material or Excluded Material for the purposes of Part IX of the *Copyright A ct 1968* (Moral Rights);
 - 'Commonwealth Material' means any Material provided by Us to You for the purposes of this agreement or which is copied from that Material, except for Project Material;

'Completion Date' means:

- (a) the date specified in item A of Schedule 1;
- (b) if no date is specified, the day after You have done all that You are required to do under this agreement to Our satisfaction;

'Conflict' refers to a conflict of interest, or risk of a conflict of interest, or an apparent conflict of interest arising through You engaging in any activity or obtaining any interest that is likely to interfere with or restrict You in providing the Project to Us fairly and independently;

'Date of this Agreement' means the date written on the signature page of this agreement, and if no date or more than one date is written there, then the date on which this agreement is signed by the last party to do so;

'Electronic Communication' has the same meaning as it has in section 5 of the *Electronic Transactions A ct 1999*;

'Excluded IPR' means the Intellectual Property Rights in the Excluded Material;

'Excluded Material' means any Material specified under the heading 'Excluded Material' in item N of Schedule 1;

'Funding' or 'Funds' means the amount or amounts (in cash or kind) payable by Us under this agreement as specified in item AA of Schedule 2, including interest earned on that amount;

'GST' has the same meaning as it has in section 195-1 of the GST Act;

'GST Act' means the A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999;

'Guidelines' refers to the guidelines for the Program, if any, as described in item B of Schedule 1;

'Information Privacy Principle' has the meaning given in the Privacy Act;

'Intellectual Property Rights' includes all copyright (including rights in relation to phonograms and broadcasts), all rights in relation to inventions (including patent rights), plant varieties, registered and unregistered trademarks (including service marks), registered designs, circuit layouts, and all other rights resulting from intellectual activity in the industrial, scientific, literary or artistic fields;

'Interest' means interest calculated at an interest rate equal to the general interest charge rate for a day pursuant to section 8AAD of the *Taxation A drinistration A ct 1953*, on a daily compounding basis;

'Material' includes documents, equipment, software (including source code and object code), goods, information and data stored by any means including all copies and extracts of the same;

'Milestone' means a stage of completion of the Project set out in item C of Schedule 1; 'Our Confidential Information' means information that:

- (a) is described in item O of Schedule 1;
- (b) We identify, by notice in writing to You after the Date of this Agreement, as confidential information for the purposes of this agreement; or
- (c) You know or ought to know is confidential to Us;

'Personal Information' has the same meaning as it has in section 6 of the Privacy Act; 'Privacy Act' means the *Privacy Act 1988*;

'Privacy Commissioner' means the Office of the Privacy Commissioner established under the Privacy Act and includes any other entity that may, from time to time, perform the functions of that Office;

'Program' means the part of Our operations specified in item B of Schedule 1 under which We are able to give the Funding to You;

'Program Delegate' means the person for the time being performing the duties of the office of the Department specified in Schedule 2 or any other person specified by the Secretary and notified in writing to You;

'Project' means the activity described in item C of Schedule 1, and includes the provision of Project Material specified in that item;

'Project Material' means;

- (a) any Material specified under the heading 'Project Material' in item N of Schedule 1;
- (b) any other Material produced by, or for, You in carrying out Your obligations under this agreement; and
- any other Material incorporated in, or supplied with, or as part of the Material referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b);

but does not include Excluded Material;

'Project Period' means:

- (a) the period specified in item D of Schedule 1 during which the Project must be completed; or
- (b) if this agreement is terminated early, the period ending on the day on which the agreement terminates;

'Records' includes documents, information and data stored by any means and all copies and extracts of the same;

'Report' means Project Material that is provided to Us for reporting purposes on matters including the use of the Funding, whether or not Milestones have been achieved, progress reports and evaluations of the Project or obligations of this agreement, as stipulated in item L of Schedule 1;

'Secretary' means a person for the time being performing the duties of the office of Secretary to the Department and includes a person designated in writing by the Secretary to exercise any of the Secretary's powers under this agreement;

'Specified Acts' means any of the following acts or omissions by or on behalf of Us:

- (a) using, reproducing, adapting or exploiting all or any part of the Project Material, with or without attribution of authorship;
- (b) supplementing the Project Material with any other Material; or
- (c) using the Project Material in a different context to that originally envisaged; but does not include false attribution of authorship;

'Specified Personnel' means the personnel (whether Your employees or subcontractors), or people with specific skills, specified in item I of Schedule 1 as personnel required to undertake the Project or any part of the work constituting the Project;

'Us', 'We' and 'Our' includes the Commonwealth's officers, delegates, employees and agents, and Our successors;

'You' and 'Your' includes, where the context admits, Your officers, employees, agents and subcontractors and Your successors;

'Your Confidential Information' means information that is described in item CC of Schedule 2.

- 33.2 In this agreement, unless the contrary intention appears:
 - (a) words in the singular include the plural and vice versa;
 - (b) words importing a gender include the other gender;
 - (c) a reference to a person includes a partnership and a body whether corporate or otherwise;
 - (d) clause headings or words in bold format are inserted for convenience only, and have no effect in limiting or extending the language of provisions;
 - (e) all references to dollars are to Australian dollars;
 - (f) unless stated otherwise, a reference to legislation is to legislation of the Commonwealth, as amended from time to time;
 - (g) an uncertainty or ambiguity in the meaning of a provision of this agreement will not be interpreted against a party just because that party prepared the provision; and
 - (h) where a word or phrase is given a defined meaning, any other part of speech or other grammatical form of that word or phrase has a corresponding meaning.
- 33.3 The schedules (and annexures and documents incorporated by reference, if any) form part of this agreement.
- 33.4 In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between any part of:
 - (a) the terms and conditions contained in the clauses of this agreement;
 - (b) the schedules

- (c) the annexures, if any;
- (d) documents incorporated by reference, if any,
- then the material mentioned in any one of paragraphs (a) to (d) above has precedence over material mentioned in a subsequent paragraph, to the extent of any conflict or inconsistency.
- 33.5 For the avoidance of doubt, no right or obligation in this agreement is to be read or understood as limiting Your rights to enter into public debate or criticism of Us.

Schedule 1 Your Obligations

A. Term of agreement (clause 1)

A.1 The Completion Date for this agreement is 30 April 2010.

B. Program (clause 2)

B.1 Under the Program, funding is available to organisations to advise employees, employers and small businesses of key changes to the workplace relations laws following passage of the Fair Work Bill 2008, with an emphasis on collective bargaining and unfair dismissal laws.

C. Project (clause 2)

C.1 The project is described at Attachment A to Schedule 1.

D. Project Period (clause 2)

D.1 The Project commences on 29 June 2009 and must be completed by 31 March 2010, or as otherwise agreed in writing between the parties.

E. Invoice Requirements (clause 3)

- E.1 Invoices forwarded by You must be correctly addressed and include the:
 - (a) title of Project;
 - (b) Your name and ABN;
 - (c) name of Program Delegate;
 - (d) agreement number or date of execution;
 - (e) fees and expenses to be invoiced (including a description of the deliverables or milestones that the invoice relates to); and
 - (f) bank account details for payment of the invoice by electronic funds transfer.
- E.2 Where the invoice relates to a taxable supply made under this agreement the invoice must comply with the requirements for a tax invoice, as defined in the GST Act.

F. Bank Accounts (clause 4)

F.1 You are required to maintain a separate bank account for the Funds.

G. Acknowledgement and Publication (clause 6)

- G.1 The recipient is required to acknowledge the financial and other support it has received from the Commonwealth in all its publications, promotional materials and activities relating to the Project in the manner specified in this item:
 - (a) The Australian Government crest is to be featured on all publications and promotional materials, both electronic and hard copy; and
 - (b) The contribution of the Australian Government in funding the educative initiatives is to be verbally noted during presentations, seminars and the like, which are

performed for the Project.

H. Subcontractors (clause 7)

H.1 Not applicable

I. Specified Personnel (clause 8)

I.1 Mr Gary Black, Executive Director
 Mr Nick Tindley, Manager, Employment Law Division
 Mr Jed Moore, Director of Corporate Affairs
 Ms Bianco Seeto-Rae, Senior Workplace Advisor, Employment Law Division
 Ms Vanessa James-McPhee, Senior Workplace Advisor, Employment Law Division

J. Assets (clause 9)

J.1 Not applicable.

K. Insurance (clause 10)

- K.1 You must maintain:
 - (a) workers' compensation insurance for an amount required by the relevant State or Territory legislation;
 - (b) public liability insurance for \$10,000,000 (ten million dollars) or more per claim;
 - (c) professional indemnity insurance for \$5,000,000 (five million dollars) or more per claim.

L. Reporting (clause 12)

L.1 You must provide Us with the following reports using the templates provided by Us:

Details of Report	Due Date
First progress report	1 October 2009
Second progress report	10 December 2009
Final report and evaluation	Within four weeks of the completion of the delivery of your program or by 30 April 2010 whichever occurs first.

M. Commonwealth Material (clause 13)

The following conditions apply to the use of Commonwealth Material by You:

Description of Commonwealth Material	Conditions or Restrictions on Use
Overview Fair Work Act - Content	Content not to be altered without written

	permission of DEEWR
Collective Bargaining - Content	Content not to be altered without written permission of DEEWR
Unfair Dismissal and Fair Dismissal Code – Content	Content not to be altered without written permission of DEEWR
Compliance with Fair Work Act - Content	Content not to be altered without written permission of DEEWR
Overview Role of Fair Work Australia and Fair Work Ombudsman - Content	Content not to be altered without written permission of DEEWR

N. Project Material (clause 14)

- N.1 The Project Materials to be created under this agreement are:
 - N.1.1 First project report;
 - N.1.2 Second project report
 - N.1.3 Final report and evaluation

N.2 Excluded Materials:

Not applicable

O. Our Confidential Information (clause 15)

O.1 Not Applicable

P. Protection of Personal Information (clause 16)

- P.1 In relation to Personal Information received, created or held by You for the purposes of this agreement, You agree:
 - (a) not to use or disclose Personal Information to engage in a practice that would breach section 16F of the Privacy Act, unless the use or disclosure is necessary to meet (directly or indirectly) an obligation under this agreement;
 - (b) not to transfer Personal Information outside Australia, or to allow parties outside Australia to have access to it, without the prior written approval of the Program Delegate;
 - (c) to co-operate with reasonable demands or inquiries made by the Privacy Commissioner or the Program Delegate in relation to the management of Personal Information:
 - (d) to ensure that any person who You allow to access Personal Information is made aware of, and undertakes in writing, to observe the Information Privacy Principles;
 - (e) to comply with policy guidelines laid down by Us or issued by the Privacy Commissioner from time to time relating to the handling of Personal Information;
 - (f) if requested by Us, at the end of this agreement, to return all Records containing Personal Information to the Program Delegate, or delete or destroy those Records in the presence of a person authorised by the

Program Delegate;

- (g) Your name being published in reports by the Privacy Commissioner;
- P.2 You must immediately notify the Program
- P.3 Delegate if You become aware:
 - (a) of a breach of Your obligations under clause 16;
 - (b) that a disclosure of Personal Information may be required by law; or
 - (c) of an approach to You by the Privacy Commissioner or by a person claiming that their privacy has been interfered with.

Note: more information about the Privacy Act and the Information Privacy Principles is available at http://www.privacy.gov.au/act/index.html.

Q. Compliance with Laws and Policies (clause 29)

Compliance with Laws

- Q.1 You acknowledge that:
 - (a) You may have obligations under the *Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Act 1999* and You must comply with those obligations;
 - (b) when dealing with Your employees, You must comply with the *Workplace Relations Act 1996* (or any successor Acts pertaining to the federal workplace relations system), and obligations under relevant occupational health and safety laws:
 - (c) Chapter 7 of the *Criminal Code* provides for offences which attract substantial penalties, including theft of Commonwealth property and other property offences, obtaining property or financial advantage by deception, offences involving fraudulent conduct, bribery, forgery and falsification of documents;
 - (d) giving false or misleading information is a serious offence under the Criminal Code;
 - (e) the publication or communication of any fact or document by a person which has come to their knowledge or into their possession or custody by virtue of the performance of this agreement (other than a person to whom You are authorised to publish or disclose that fact or document) may be an offence under section 70 of the Crimes Act 1914, punishment for which may be a maximum of two years imprisonment;
 - (f) in respect of data, including personal information, held in connection with this agreement, any unauthorised and intentional access, destruction, alteration, addition or impediment to access or usefulness of the data stored in any computer in the course of performing this agreement is an offence under Part 10.7 of the Criminal Code which may attract a substantial penalty, including imprisonment;
 - (g) You are aware of the provisions of section 79 of the Crims Act 1914 relating to official secrets:
 - (h) You are aware of Your obligations under Part 4 of the *Charter of United Nations Act 1945* and the *Charter of United Nations (Terrorism and Dealing with Assets) Regulations 2002*;

Note: more information about the Charter of United Nations Act and the Charter of United Nations (Terrorism and Dealing with Assets) Regulations is available at http://www.dfat.gov.au/icat/freezing_terrorist_assets.html.

(i) You may be subject to the provisions of the *Trade Practices A ct 1974* and the *Archives A ct 1983*.

Compliance with Policies

Q.2 You must:

- (a) when using Our premises or facilities (including information systems), comply with Our directions and procedures relating to occupational health and safety, environmental management and security (which you acknowledge may change during the term of this agreement); and
- (b) ensure that any person who will have access to official secrets within the meaning of section 79 of the *Crims Act 1914* signs an acknowledgment that he or she is aware of the provisions of that section.

Other Laws and Policies

Q.3 Not applicable

R. Notices (clauses 8 and 31)

R.1 The person who can accept notices for You is:

Name: Mr Gary Black

Office Address: 395 St Pauls Terrace, Fortitude Valley, Qld, 4006

Postal Address: PO Box 91 Fortitude Valley, Qld 4006

Fax: 07 3251 3030

Phone: 07 3251 3000

Email: g.black@nra.net.au

Attachment A to Schedule 1

FAIR WORK EDUCATION AND INFORMATION PROGRAM National Retail Association

1. ACTIVITY (E ducation events and activities that will be delivered under your program)

		Coverage (Insert number of events.)		Total Number
Activity	State			
		Metro	Regional/Rural	
		(eg within a	or Remote	
		Capital city)		
Seminars	QLD	10	14	24
	NSW	10	11	21
	VIC	10	8	18
1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	TAS	5		5
	SA	10	7	17
	WA	10	6	16
	ACT	10		10
,	NT	4		4
1			Sub total	115
In house workshops	QLD	12	2	14
	NSW	12	2	14
	VIC	12	2	14
	TAS	4		4
	SA	7		7
	WA	7		7
	ACT	2		2
	NT	2		2
			Sub total	64

2. EDUCATIONAL PRODUCTS (Materials and/or products that will be used as part of your program)

Item	Use
Workbook	Theoretical and practical component, self-

	paced practical application, including template	
	agreement	
Fact sheets	Disseminated at seminars/ in-house workshops	
	Available on website	
Powerpoint presentation	Facilitate the communication of key concepts	
	and important parts of the legislation at	
	seminars and workshops	

3. MARKETING (Promotional activities that will be conducted to promote awareness of your education ewents. These should include mediums that reach beyond your membership base but should not include any television advertising or large press advertisements)

Activity	Medium	Target Audience	Location
e-newsletter s	Email	Members/contacts	All locations
Electronic updates & alerts	Email	Members/contacts	All locations
Newspaper ads	Print media	Businesses	Selected regional areas
Direct mail & letter box drops	Mail	Members	Selected regional areas
Direct communications to large national retailers	Personal contact	Members	All locations

4. BUDGET

Item	Unit cost	Total Cost \$
	\$	including
		GST
Activities - number and type	(Excl. marketing	
	and admin)	
In house workshops x 64	\$444	28,397
Seminars/workshops x 115	\$1362	156,600
Advertising	\$435	8,700
Brochures (if fact sheets only)	\$8	8,230
Printing costs		5,220
Website		4,350

Administration		6,003
	TOTAL GST inclusive	\$217,500

5. MONITORING and EVALUATION (A drise how you will monitor and evaluate the delivery of your education activities on an ongoing basis. Note: you will receive templates for recording your event statistics, progress reports and your final report upon commencement of your program)

Activity	Monitoring and Evaluation
Workshops and Seminars	The NRA Program co-ordinator will teleconference with
	seminar and workshop facilitators on a weekly basis to ensure
	attendance levels at events are satisfactory and to identify
	feedback from attendees and, hot topics etc This information
	will be maintained regularly and provided to the department
	upon request.
Feedback forms at events	The NRA program coordinator will collate feedback forms and
	provide a regular summary of feedback, with an emphasis on
	key issues and concerns
Hits on web site	The program co-ordinator will monitor and provide summary
Telephone calls received	information on web site hits and telephone calls received via
	1800 number

6. RISK MANAGEMENT (Identification of risks inherent in delivery of the program)

Issue	Proposed Action	Risk
Staffing Availability	All NRA Employment Law	Low
	Division team members will be	
	trained and available for	
	presentation of consultations	
Facility Risk	Alternative arrangements will be	Low
	researched at time of booking and	
	information about alternatives will	
	be stored.	
Technological Risk	IT expertise is on call and will be	Medium
	called upon in the event of IT or	

		web failures.	
Financial Risk	0	Finance is available to cover	Low
		funding or operational finance gaps	

7. CONTACT DETAILS

Contact Name	Gary Black
Position	Executive Director
Phone No.	07 32513000
Email	g.black@nra.net.au
Mailing Address	PO Box 91, Fortitude Valley, Queensland, 4006

Schedule 2 Our Obligations

AA. Funding (clause 3)

AA.1 The total Funding for the Project is \$ 217,500 inclusive of GST payable by the following instalments:

Amount	Payable
\$ 97,875	Upon execution of funding agreement
\$ 65,250	Upon acceptance by Us of the first progress report
\$ 32,625	Upon acceptance by Us of the second progress report
\$ 21,750	Upon acceptance by Us of the final report and evaluation.

AA.2 The Funding includes GST of \$19,772.73.

AA.3 Subject to acceptance by Us, the date for payment is 30 days after delivery of a correctly rendered invoice to Us and after delivery of the Project or part of the Project to which the payment relates.

BB. Program Delegate (clauses 11 and 31)

BB.1 The Program Delegate is:

Name: Ms Jody Anderson

Branch Manager, Workplace Relations Implementation Group

Office Address: 10 Mort Street, Braddon, ACT

Postal Address: GPO Box 9879, Canberra, ACT, 2601

Fax: (02) 6276 9259

Phone: (02) 6121 5470

Email: jody.anderson@deewr.gov.au

CC. Your Confidential Information (clause 15)

CC.1 Not applicable

THIS AGREEMENT is made on the 20th day of July 2009 SIGNED for and on behalf of THE COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA by Ms Jody Anderson the Branch Manager of the Workplace Relations Implementation Ground the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations	
In the Presence of:	
WITNESS Ana Maria Cerina - Public Senar Full name and occupation or profession of witnes	√. s (Please print)
*Where recipient is a Company use the EXECUTED BY [company name]	following }
	/ / / I
Signature	Signature
Signature 6999 DAVIO RUSUL	Signature INN A WINTER BURN.
brown nain lines	
GART DAVIO RLACK	IAN A WINTERBURN.

*Where recipient is an incorporated association use the following

The COMMON SEAL of [full name of the incorporated association]

was affixed in accordance with its Articles of Association.

Signature
Full Name (Please print)
Position who by signing certifies that they have the authority to do so
In the Presence of:
WITNESS
Full name and occupation or profession of witness (Please print)

